Protein Quality in Wheat: Changes in Protein Polymer Composition during Grain Development and Dough Processing

Ramunė Kuktaitė

Department of Crop Science Alnarp

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Alnarp 2004

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Agraria 499

ISSN 1401-6249 ISBN 91-576-6778-0 © 2004 Ramunė Kuktaitė, Alnarp Tryck: SLU Repro, Alnarp 2004 This Thesis is dedicated to the memory of my father, Stasiui K.uktai.

Everything should be as simple as possible, but not simpler.

Éinstein

Abstract

Kuktaite, R. 2004. Protein Quality in Wheat: Changes in Protein Polymer Composition During Grain Development and Dough Processing. Doctoral dissertation. ISSN 1401-6249, ISBN 91-576-6778-0

The overall objective of the present studies was to increase the understanding about protein quality in wheat, *i.e.* to make it possible to improve the production of wheat with desired quality for different end-uses. Studies of changes in protein polymer composition during grain development and dough processing were used as one track to investigate the protein quality in the wheat material.

Accumulation and build-up of the proteins in developing wheat grain was found to be a predetermined process and independent of variation in temperature and nitrogen regimes. For determination of amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins, the length of maturation time together with availability of nutrients during the latter half of the grain development are of highest importance.

By the ultracentrifugation of dough specific low molecular weight (LMW) glutenins were found only in the gluten phase, indicating the importance of these proteins for bread-making. Also, specific water soluble proteins were found in the gluten phase.

The genetically and environmentally determined amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins form the basis for the build-up (cross-linking) of protein polymers during dough formation. The omega-gliadins interact with the glutenins during dough processing through non-covalent interactions.

Prolonged mixing time caused an increase in the water content of gluten, changed the rheological properties of dough and made the gluten surface smoother. The storage modulus (G', representing the gluten network density) was uninfluenced by prolonged mixing. Overmixing (from optimum to overmixing) had a smaller effect on strong flour compared to weaker flours.

Differences in extractability behaviour between the SDS-extractable and –unextractable proteins indicated a more branched and complex structure in the SDS-unextractable protein. Omega gliadins showed a tight link with the glutenins in the gluten macropolymer.

The use of proteomics, for investigating the whole protein composition and structure of the gluten polymer, are still rather limiting. One possible use of this technique is to investigate presence of disulphide bonds through the comparison of digested and digested+reduced samples.

Taken together, the results presented in this thesis provide new insights into polymeric gluten protein structure specificity and changes from grain development to dough processing in general.

Keywords: wheat, proteins, composition, gluten polymer structure, bread-making quality.

Author's address: Ramune Kuktaite, Department of Crop Science, SLU, P.O. Box 44, SE-230 53 Alnarp, Sweden. E-mail: Ramune.Kuktaite@vv.slu.se

Contents

Appendix	
Introduction	4
1. Wheat	5
2. Bread-making quality	5
Starch	5
Lipids	6
Proteins	6
3. Wheat proteins	6
Albumins and globulins	8
Glutening	ð 0
4 Cluten Polymer Structure	" 10
Unique properties of the gluten polymer	13
Factors influencing solubility of gluten proteins	13
5. Factors Influencing Gluten Polymeric Protein Size Distribution	13
6. Protein Behaviour during Dough Processing	14
Dough development and breakdown	14
Proteins in dough	15
Dough mixing	15
7. Rheological behaviour	16
General concepts	16
Mechanical spectra	17
Viscoelasticity of gluten and factors influencing rheological proper	ties
of dough 8. Wheat Protoomics	18
8. wheat Proteomics	10
Objectives	20
Results and General Discussion (Survey of Papers I to V)	21
Formation of the gluten polymers: from plant to product (flour)	
(papers I and III)	21
Breakdown of gluten polymers (paper III)	23
Extractability of proteins and impact on quality (papers I, III, V)	23
Rheological behaviour and polymer structure (paper IV)	25
Protein composition in gluten: influences of genetics and environm	lent
(paper II, III and IV, unpublished results and from posters)	26
Proteomics and polymer structure (paper V)	28
Concluding remarks	29
Protein Future Application	30
References	30
Acknowledgements	39

Appendix

Papers I-V

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals:

- I. Johansson, E., Kuktaite, R., Andersson, A., Prieto-Linde, M., 2004. Protein polymer built-up during wheat grain development: influences of temperature and nitrogen timing. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture (in press).
- II. Kuktaite, R., Larsson, H., Johansson, E., 2003. Protein composition in different phases obtained by the centrifugation of dough. Acta Agronomica Hungarica, 51(2), 163-172.
- III. Kuktaite, R., Larsson, H., Johansson, E., 2004. Variation in protein composition and its relationship to dough mixing behaviour in wheat flour. Journal of Cereal Science, 40(1), 31-39.
- IV. Kuktaite, R., Larsson, H., Marttila, S., Johansson, E. Effect of mixing time on gluten recovered by ultracentrifugation studied by microscopy and rheological measurements. (submitted)
- V. Kuktaite, R., Di Giorgi, S., Garozzo, D., Johansson, E., 2004. Differences in composition of SDS-extractable and SDSunextractable gluten protein: possibilities using SDS-PAGE, RP-HPLC and Proteome. (manuscript)

Papers were reprinted with kind permission from Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture (Paper I), Acta Agronomica Hungarica (Paper II) and Journal of Cereal Science (Paper III).

Introduction

Similarly as in many other parts of the world, wheat is one of the major cultivated crops in Southern Sweden (Jordbruksverket, 2004). Wheat, barley and oats have the largest production volume and a wider food application compared to many of the other cereals (Jordbruksverket, JO 10 SM 0401, 2004). During the last 15 years the Swedish wheat production has been between 1.5 and 2.5 million tons/year. During the same period the yearly export has varied between 504 000 and 750 000 tones and the import has changed between 50 000 to 80 000 tones/year. Human consumption of wheat in Sweden reaches around 1/3 of the Swedish produced wheat (FAO data base, 2004).

Wheat is used for many different purposes and in Sweden the largest part is used for feed (Jordbruksverket, 2004). According to wheat food applications, bread-manufacturing is still the most essential use of wheat in Southern Sweden (Belderok *et al.*, 2000). For bread production, the right quality is important and thus, bread-making quality surveys are of fundamental nature.

Both the type of wheat cultivar and the climatic and other conditions differing between cultivations, influences the quality characteristics of wheat, in Sweden and also in other countries such as U.K. (Kettlewell *et al.*, 2003), Germany (http://www.bsb.org.uk/members/library/conferences/2000autumn/paper_442.htm) and Australia

(http://www.seedquest.com/News/releases/2004/october/10168.htm). The large proportion of Swedish wheat, produced as feed, do not fulfil the quality requirements outlined by the millers and bakers for the manufacturing of bread. However, sometimes also the bread wheat has problems to fulfil the bread quality criteria. The characteristics that determine the suitability of wheat for the bread production are: the milling properties, the dough properties and the bread properties. The proportion of wheat imported to Sweden, is often used as high quality wheat with the intention to strengthen the dough properties within the Swedish bread production. The desire to better understand the reasons and background of variations in bread-making quality is beyond the scope of this thesis.



Wheat fields in Alnarp, original picture by R. Kuktaite.

1. Wheat

The earliest known grains of domesticated wheat dates from approximately 7500 – 6500 B.C. Between 6000 and 5000 B.C. hexaploid wheat (*T. aestivum*) and cultivated emmer wheat (*T. timopheevi var. araraticum* and *T. turgidum var. dicoccoides*) penetrated into the irrigated agriculture of Mesopotamia and western Iran (Feldman, 1976). In Sweden, wheat has been grown since 4000 B.C., *i.e.* since the Neolithic period (Jensen, 1991).

As well as other cereals, such as rye and barley, wheat belong to the tribe *Triticeae*. This is one of the largest and most important tribes in the grass *Poaceae* family (Dewey, 1984). The number of genera in the tribe *Triticeae* varies considerably between different classifications (Löve, 1984; Stebbins, 1956) although, the five and same genera, *Aegilops, Elymus, Hordeum, Secale* and *Triticum* are included in the *Triticeae*, independent of classification system.

The basic chromosome number is x = 7 for *Triticum* and all the species in the tribe. The wild species are diploids (2n = 2x = 14), *e.g.* with genome designation AA (*Triticum monococcum*), DD (*T. tauschii*) and SS (*T. speltoides*), or tetraploids (2n = 4x = 28), *e.g.* with the genomes AABB (*e.g. T. turgidum*) or AAGG (*T. timopheevii*) (Feldman, 1976). The most common cultivated hexaploid wheat nowadays is *T. aestivum*, AABBDD, (2n = 6x = 42) (Zohary and Hopf, 1993).

2. Bread-making quality

The application of wheat flour is broad and it is widely used for bread, pasta and noodles, breakfast cereals and fermented drink. Other applications are the starch and gluten industry. Bread-making quality is both an important and complex character of bread wheat (*T. aestivum*) (Pomeranz, 1988). First of all, the consumers' demands, the bread-making technology (MacRitchie, 1984; Mesdag, 1985) and the cultural traditions differ largely between the countries. Also the bread-making quality tests of flour are not easy to repeat, because baking tests depend on the baker and technological differences of the process (MacRitchie, 1984). Therefore, it is complicated to formulate universally applicable criteria for bread-making quality. Traditionally, the volume of the bread loaf has been considered as the most important criterion for produced bread (MacRitchie, 1984). The desirable rheological characteristics of dough (stickiness, mixing requirement, water absorbance) together with the colour and appearance of loaf are of importance as well (Finney *et al.*, 1987).

The balance and interaction between different flour components as proteins, starch, lipids, water, pentosans etc., are of high importance for the bread-making quality.

Starch

Starch is the main component in the carbohydrate fraction accounting for 65-75% of the grain dry weight. A series of enzymes synthesize the amylase and amylopectin chains that comprise starch. Differences in wheat starch particle size

distribution and amount of damaged starch granules has been shown to be important for the baking performance (Hoseney *et al.*, 1971). The shape and size of granules vary with species and cultivar origin (Soulaka and Morrison, 1985). The starch damage depends mainly on the milling conditions and the grain hardness (Bass, 1988). However, the differences in protein concentration have stronger influence on bread-making quality than the starch granule size (Lelievre *et al.*, 1987). In baking technology starch is mostly associated with staling, the processes that are responsible for the aging of bread.

Lipids

The wheat lipids constitute about 1-2% of the total flour weight. Despite the small amounts, lipids affect bread-making quality (Morrison, 1988). One part of the lipids is bound (not covalently) to starch, *i.e.* the starch lipids, in the amylose-lipid complex (Morrison, 1988). Another part has interactions with the flour proteins (MacRitchie *et al.*, 1990). Both mentioned connections are important for bread-making quality (Frazier *et al.*, 1981). Based on their ability to interact with water, wheat flour lipids can be classified into a polar (glycolipids and phospholipids) and non-polar lipid fraction (mainly triglycerides) (Eliasson and Larsson, 1993). The polar lipids have positive effects in baking whilst non-polar lipids distinctly deleterious effects (MacRitchie, 1984).

Proteins

The protein fraction is known to play the most essential role for bread-making (Morrison, 1988; Wall, 1979). Bread-making quality correlates with the presence or absence of specific proteins and protein subunits (Gupta *et al.*, 1989; Johansson, 1996; Johansson *et al.*, 1993; Payne *et al.*, 1987a). In addition, the quality depends on the ratio of monomeric to polymeric proteins (Sapirstein and Fu, 1998) and amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins (Gupta *et al.*, 1993; Johansson *et al.*, 2001).

3. Wheat proteins

The ability of wheat flour to be processed into different foods is largely determined by the gluten proteins (Weegels *et al.*, 1996a). Therefore, the gluten proteins have been the subject of intensive studies for a period exceeding 250 years. This has revealed gluten proteins having unusual structures and properties, making them of special interest for studies as well as applied work about their functional properties (Shewry and Tatham, 2000).

All gluten proteins are synthesised on the endosplasmic reticulum (ER). They all contain a signal peptide, which through analogy with animal systems (Kreil, 1981), were found to direct the nascent chain into the lumen of ER (Grimwade *et al.*, 1996). Some wheat storage proteins appear to follow the secretory pathway from ER over Golgi to protein bodies and lose their integrity as the grain matures forming a protein matrix in the mature dry tissue (Parker, 1980). However, other proteins accumulate in the ER and are incorporated in vacuole-like compartments

that surround the protein bodies (Levanony *et al.*, 1992). Beside that, specifically for wheat, protein in the vacuole-like compartments is compressed between the starch granules (Levanony *et al.*, 1992; Shy *et al.*, 2001). The precise mechanism of intracellular transport of storage proteins from their site of synthesis to their site of deposition is still uncertain (Grimwade *et al.*, 1996). Protein folding together with both inter and intra-chain disulfide bond formation are considered to occur within the lumen of the ER, and may be assisted by molecular chaperones and by the enzyme protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) respectively (Roden *et al.*, 1982; Shimoni *et al.*, 1995).

Many attempts to reveal the structure of the gluten proteins have been carried out, although they have been troubled by the low solubility and lack of crystallinity of the proteins. The solubility properties of gluten proteins are determined by the primary structures of the individual proteins and their interactions by non-covalent forces (notably hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions) (Belton *et al.*, 1998) and by covalent disulphide bonds (Shewry *et al.*, 2002). The whole protein structure is still far from being clear (Veraverbeke and Delcour, 2002).

Mature wheat grains contain 8-20% proteins. The gluten proteins, the gliadins and glutenins, constitute up to 80-85% of total flour protein, and confer properties of elasticity and extensibility that are essential for functionality of wheat flours (Shewry *et al.*, 1995). The gliadins and glutenins constitute each around 50% of the gluten proteins.

Osborne was the first to classify wheat grain proteins on the basis of their solubility: albumins (soluble in water), globulins (salt), gliadins (aqueous water) and glutenins (dilute acid or alkali) (Osborne, 1907). Due to findings of the Osborne fractions being heterogeneous and containing protein types overlapping each other, the methods of protein fractionation have been improved nowadays (MacRitchie *et al.*, 1990). The today used protein classifying system is based on biological characteristics of the proteins together with their chemical and genetic relationship, leading to different states of aggregation in dissociating solutions (Shewry and Tatham, 1990; Shewry *et al.*, 1986). Thus, gliadins are a mixture of monomeric polypeptides and glutenins consist of polypeptides aggregated by disulphide bonds (Sapirstein and Fu, 1998; Shewry and Tatham, 1990; Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a) (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Traditional classification of gluten proteins (Shewry *et al.*, 1986; Shewry and Tatham, 1990).

Both types of wheat storage proteins, the gliadins and glutenins, are the main components, building the gluten polymer and determine bread-making properties (Branlard and Dardevet, 1985a, b).

Albumins and globulins

Apart from the gluten proteins, water-soluble albumins and salt-soluble globulins constitute from 10 to 22% of total flour protein (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a). Albumins such as α -amylase/trypsin inhibitors (Buonocore *et al.*, 1985; Shewry *et al.*, 1984), serpins (Østergaard *et al.*, 2000) and purotionins (Garcia-Olmedo *et al.*, 2002) may have dual roles as nutrient reserves for the germinating embryo and as inhibitors of insects and fungal pathogens prior to germination. Puroindolines influence grain hardness (Morris, 2002). Generally, albumins and globulins are not thought to play a critical role in flour quality, although, minor importance on bread-making quality has been reported (Schofield and Booth, 1983). Both protein fractions are important from nutritional point, because of rather high amounts of essential amino acids.

Gliadins

The gliadins are divided into four groups, alpha- (α -), beta- (β -), gamma- (γ -), and omega- (o-) gliadins, based on their electrophoretic mobility at low pH (Woychik et al., 1961). More than 30 components are separated by twodimensional (2D) electrophoresis (Friedli, 1996). The amino acid compositions of the α -, β -, γ - and ω - gliadins are similar to each other (Tatham *et al.*, 1990), although, the ω -gliadins contain little or no cysteine or methionine and only small amounts of basic amino acids. All gliadins are monomers with either no disulphide bonds (ω -gliadins) or intra- chain disulphide bonds (α -, β -, and γ - gliadins) (Müller and Wieser, 1995, 1997). The molecular weights of ω-gliadins are between 46,000 and 74,000, and the α -, β - and γ -gliadins have lower Mrs, ranging from 30,000 to 45,000 by SDS-PAGE and amino acid sequencing (Kasarda et al., 1983). The latter approach has shown that the α - and β -gliadins are closely related and thereby they are often referred to as α -type gliadins. Most α - type gliadins contain six cysteine residues. Because of the monomeric character of α -type gliadins, and the absence of free sulphydryl groups, it has been assumed that the cysteine residues are linked by three intra-molecular disulphide bonds (Kasarda et al., 1987).

The γ -type gliadins are single monomeric proteins with intra-chain disulphide bonds and are considered to be the ancestral type of the S-rich prolamins (Shewry *et al.*, 1986). Complete amino acid sequences of several γ -gliadins have been deduced from genomic and cDNA sequences (Okita *et al.*, 1985; Scheets and Hedgcoth, 1988). These sequences showed a clear domain structure, with a nonrepetitive sequence of 14 residues at the N-terminus, an N-terminal repetitive domain based on a heptapeptide repeat motif (consensus Pro Gln Gln Pro Phe Pro Gln) and a non-repetitive C-terminal domain which contained all the cysteine residues. Structural studies, using circular dichroism and structure prediction, indicated that the two domains adopt different conformations. While the repetitive domain adopts a β -reverse turn rich conformation, the non-repetitive domain is rich in α -helix (Tatham *et al.*, 1990).

In dough formation, the gliadins are thought not to become covalently-linked into large elastic networks as the glutenins but act as a 'plasticiser', promoting viscous flow and extensibility which are important rheological characteristics of dough. They may interact through hydrophobic interactions and hydrogen bonds (Belton, 1999).

Glutenins

The glutenin fraction is formed of a mixture of polymers, high-molecular-weight glutenin subunits (HMW-gs) and low-molecular-weight glutenin subunits (LMW-gs). The large glutenin polymers are stabilised by inter- chain disulphide bonds (Field *et al.*, 1983). The HMW-gs have molecular weight ranging from 80-160,000 Da and the LMW-gs weights are 30-51,000 using SDS-PAGE (Payne *et al.*, 1980). The HMW-gs account for about 5-10% of the total protein (Payne, 1986). The LMW-gs most closely resemble γ -gliadins in sequence (Müller *et al.*, 1998) and comprise about 20-30% of the total protein (Gupta *et al.*, 1992). Three to six HMW-gs (Margiotta *et al.*, 1996; Payne and Corfield, 1979) and 15-20 different LMW-gs proteins are recognised in 1 and 2D gels of hexaploid wheat (Lew *et al.*, 1992).

The HMW-gs consist of nonrepetitive domains of 88-104 and 42 residues at the N- and C-termini, respectively, separated by a longer repetitive domain (481-690 residues). Variation in the repetitive domain is responsible for most of the variation in the size of the whole protein, and it is based on random and interspersed repeats of hexapeptide and nonapeptide motifs, with tripeptides also present in x-type subunits only. Structure prediction indicated that the N- and Cterminal domains are predominantly a-helical, while the repetitive domains are rich in β-turns (Shewry et al., 1989) (Fig. 2). Many partial and full-length sequences of HMW-gs and LMW-gs have been determined (Shewry and Tatham, 1997). Despite the high degree of similarity in general structures and amino acid sequences of x- and y- type HMW-gs, some important differences are potentially critical for the structure and functionality of glutenin polymers (Shewry et al., 1992). There are three differences in: 1) molecular weight (x-type are bigger then y-type) due to a difference in length of the central repetitive domain; 2) the repeat structures in central domain; 3) the number and distribution of cysteine residues (Shewry et al., 1992).



Figure 2. Molecular model developed for a β -spiral structure based on the aminoacid sequence of repetitive domain of a HMW subunit (Shewry *et al.*, 2002).

4. Gluten Polymer Structure

Several models for the structure of wheat gluten polymer have been proposed. According to earlier models, glutenin has only intra- chain disulphide bonds. The intra- chain disulphide bonds were thought to force glutenin molecules into specific conformations that facilitated interaction of adjacent glutenin molecules through non-covalent bonds, thereby causing aggregation (Kasarda *et al.*, 1976).

Ewart (1979) proposed an alternative model in which the adjacent polypeptide chains of glutenins were thought to consist of linear polymers and two adjacent chains were connected to each other with one disulphide bond (Ewart, 1979). In this model, the rheological properties of dough are dependent on the presence of rheologically active disulphide bonds and thiol groups as well as on secondary forces in the concatenations (Ewart, 1979).

Another model was proposed by Khan and Bushuk (1979) in which the functional glutenin complexes contained both inter- and intra- chain disulphide bonds. On the basis of results from SDS-PAGE, they proposed an aggregate of two types of glutenin complexes, I and II. In their model, glutenin I comprised subunits of molecular weight 6.8×10^4 and lower, held together through hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions: glutenin II comprised crosslinked subunits of molecular weights above 6.8×10^4 , linked by inter- chain disulphide bonds.

More recent studies have shown that gluten protein polymers have a wide range of size distribution, ranging from dimers to polymers with molecular weights up to millions (M_rs possibly exceeding 1 x 10⁷) (Larroque *et al.*, 1996; Wrigley, 1996) (Fig. 3). The proteins with the highest molecular weight are reported to have the strongest correlation with strong dough properties (MacRitchie, 1984). A certain amount of these polymers remains unextractable in various extracting systems (acetic acid solution or SDS phosphate buffer). The

%UPP (percentage unextractable polymeric protein in total polymeric protein) is often used as a measurement of the amount and size distribution of the polymeric protein (Gupta *et al.*, 1992; Field *et al.*, 1983). High %UPP values are related to a greater proportion of glutenin that is insoluble in SDS and for that reason are thought to be of the highest molecular weight (MacRitchie and Singh, 2004). Thus, wheat with a greater percentage of UPP are expected to have a greater dough resistance (elasticity) and a longer mixing requirement than those with a greater proportion of extractable polymeric protein (Gupta *et al.*, 1993).



Figure 3. The disulphide-bonded polymeric structure of wheat glutenin: the protein matrix between the starch granules and gas bubbles in dough (Wrigley, 1996).

Today, both intra- (formed by gliadins and glutenins) and inter- (formed by glutenins) chain disulfide bonds, as well as non-covalent bonds are thought to be important in the formation of the gluten polymer complex (Fig. 3). Additionally, the polymeric proteins are stabilised by inter-chain hydrogen bonding (Belton, 1999).

Both x-type and y-type of HMW-gs have a typical three-domain structure consisting of relatively small N- and C- terminal domains flanking a major central domain (Fig. 4)

x-type HMW-GS	
	г соон
y-type HMW-GS	
NH2 - 1 2 345 6 - Соон	
B-type LMW-GS	
NH2 -1	
Ca-type LMW-GS	
NH ₂ - 1 45 6 6 78 - COOH	
Cy-type LMW-GS	
NH ₂ - 1 11 11 11 11 NH ₂ - 1 12 3456 78 - COOH	100 amino acids

Figure 4. The structure of the main classes of wheat glutenin subunits (D-type and positions of the conserved (numbers) and unconserved (numbers with the prime) cysteine residues. *- unconserved cysteine in glutenin subunits (Veraverbeke and Delcour, 2002).

Differences in the disulfide bonding properties of gluten subunits impact their role in establishing gluten structure and function (Lindsay and Skerritt, 1999) (Fig. 5). The knowledge gained from polymer studies can be applied to understand dough behaviour (MacRitchie and Singh, 2004).



Figure 5. Schematic model of the structure of HMW subunit polymers, based on mapped disulphide bonds (Shewry *et al.*, 2002).

Unique properties of the gluten polymer

Segmental motion. Specific portions or segments of large molecules have been found to be the main reason for the activation energy of that molecule (Kauzmann and Eyring, 1940). To some extent, these segments of polymer molecules can move independently as kinetic units. The size of such protein segments are around 6-10 amino acid residues (MacRitchie, 1998).

Molecular weight distribution. Gliadins are single chain polypeptides with similar molecular weight, relatively to the glutenins forming polymers. The polymers are formed from glutenin subunits by a post-translational polymerisation. The polymers are present in wheat grains, flours and dough with a wide molecular weight distribution.

Entanglements. Rheological properties (viscosity) usually increase with increasing molecular weight. However, the viscosity increases more sharply, at a critical molecular weight (Bueche, 1962). The reasons for this are entanglements, widely spaced points along the chain with additional resistance to flow. The entaglements act as cross links and contribute to the strength of the gluten polymer (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a).

Factors influencing solubility of gluten proteins

The difficulty in solubilising gluten proteins arises mainly from a lack of ionisable groups and the very high molecular weight of the glutenins (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a). The proteins contain both polar and non-polar amino acid chains. The non-polar side chains contribute to the lack of solubility in aqueous solutions and this is referred to as the hydrophobic effect (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a). Non-polar side chain frequency is a parameter that provides a measure of the hydrophobic effect. The non-polar side chain frequency is defined as the number of tryptophan, isoleucine, tyrosine, phenylalanine, proline, leucine and valine residues divided by the total number of residues. Another parameter influencing solubility is charged group frequency defined as the number of aspartic and glutamic acids, histidine, lysine and arginine expressed as a fraction of the total number of residues (Nelson and Cox, 2003).

The repetitive domains of the wheat gluten polymer molecules contain many hydrophilic glutamine residues that can interact with the solvent (water) or form intermolecular hydrogen bonds (β sheets), leading to nonentropic interactions. When the number of arrangements with solvent molecules decreases it leads to an increased insolubility of the gluten proteins due to a negative entropy change (Belton, 1999).

5. Factors Influencing Gluten Polymeric Protein Size Distribution

Four main protein compositional factors are governing the gluten polymeric protein size distribution:

1) the HMW/LMW-gs ratio (also the ratio of B-range to C-range LMW-gs, but to a lesser extent), (MacRitchie, 1999)

2) allelic variation at *Glu*-1 loci (*e.g.* the presence of HMW-gs 5+10 vs. 2+12), (MacRitchie, 1999)

3) the presence of chain terminators (ω -gliadins, which contain a single cysteine residue (MacRitchie, 1999), and α - and γ -LMW-gs (Masci *et al.*, 1995)).

4) the amount and allelic forms of LMW-gs (cysteine residues) (Consalvi *et al.*, 2004; Dachkevitch and Autran, 1989).

These factors influence the amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins *e.g.* the %UPP. In addition to the mentioned genotypic factors, also environment shows strong influence of the amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins (MacRitchie, 1999; Altenbach *et al.*, 2003; Johansson *et al.*, 2001, 2002).

The most important environmental conditions influencing the amount, composition and/or polymerization of the gluten proteins, are temperature and fertilizer (Johansson *et al.*, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004; Müller *et al.*, 1998). Prior anthesis, environment affects mainly yield, through wheat grain germination, photosynthesis, tiller formation, and inflorescence development, thereby impacting grain number (Herzog, 1986). After anthesis, environmental conditions primarily affect kernel size, protein concentration and composition. Increases in grain protein content and gliadin to HMW-gs and LMW-gs ratios were observed with increased nitrogen fertilizer (Johansson *et al.*, 2001, 2003; Gupta *et al.*, 1992; Müller *et al.*, 1998). Timing of N application influences the %UPP (Johansson *et al.*, 2004). Temperature during grain filling under Swedish conditions correlates significantly with %UPP (Johansson *et al.*, 2003). Higher temperatures, above 30 °C showed instead a negative correlation with %UPP (Randall and Moss, 1990).

6. Protein Behaviour during Dough Processing

Dough development and breakdown

Three factors are required to form dough - flour, water and energy. Doughs are concentrated systems where shear and tensile forces imparted by mixing or sheeting cause gluten proteins join together and form a network in the dough (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a). During development, the dough acquires viscoelastic properties which become optimum at peak consistency. At a molecular level, the dough development involves the use of shear and tensile forces to extend the large glutenin molecules from their equilibrium conformations. Extended molecules give rise to elastic restoring forces similar to what occurs in rubber elasticity. The high elasticity arising mainly from the entanglement coupling of glutenin molecules retards the molecular retraction and maintains the elasticity during resting. At a molecular level, during mixing glutenins retract from extended conformations. Mixing stresses produce orientation of molecules. Polymer molecules respond to the application of stress by three main processes, disentanglement, chain orientation and bond rupture. All three can occur during dough mixing. Scission of the largest glutenin molecules results from chains not being able to slip free at entanglements points quickly enough in response to the stress (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a).

The covalent bonds that are broken are the disulphide bonds between glutenin subunits. Important is that the highest stresses occur at the centres of molecules where the probability of chain scission is greatest (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a).

Proteins in dough

The roles of the individual gluten components in dough functionality are complex (Gupta *et al.*, 1991, 1992; Khatkar *et al.*, 2002). When isolated gliadins are mixed with starch and water, a purely viscous material is formed and there is no development stage as in common dough. In contrast, pure glutenin forms a rubbery material with low extensibility. The elastic properties that appear in dough during mixing are due to glutenin (MacRitchie and Singh, 2004).

Many approaches have attempted to explain the molecular basis of interactions of dough proteins (Létang *et al.*, 1999). Undeveloped dough is defined as wheat flour that has become fully hydrated without being deformed (*i.e.* subjected to no mechanical action). Developed dough is described as a transformation of undeveloped dough through some appropriate deformational energy input, to form the developed protein matrix (Campos *et al.*, 1997).

Dough mixing

Most of the studies regarding polymeric proteins are related to the impact of individual protein classes, HMW-gs and LMW-gs, or the genes encoding them (Bekes *et al.*, 2001). The molecular models used to describe the gluten development involve glutenin proteins and crosslinks between them. Schematic mechanisms involved in dough formation are shown in Figure 6.





Variation in the composition of polymeric proteins between wheat cultivars during dough mixing has been demonstrated (Gupta *et al.*, 1996; Johansson *et al.*, 2001; Kuktaite *et al.*, 2000; Lindsay and Skerritt, 2000a). The relative amount of polymeric protein increases with increasing gluten strength (Johansson *et al.*, 2001; Kuktaite *et al.*, 2000). However, protein composition explains only a small proportion of the variation in quality. The effects of the glutenin polymer function in dough and for flour end-use quality have also been investigated (Bekes *et al.*, 1994; Uthayakumaran *et al.*, 1999). Specific changes in molecular weight and composition of polymeric glutenin occur during dough development and breakdown (Lindsay and Skerritt, 1999; Weegels *et al.*, 1996, 1997).

Many protein structural studies, as well as mixing and baking studies, have postulated that disulphide bonds contribute to the process of dough formation through the disulphide-sulphydryl exchange (Lindsay *et al.*, 2000a; Tilley *et al.*, 2001) (Fig. 6). However, a full understanding of the structure of the gluten polymer during dough processing, as well as of the changes in molecular associations, is still far from being reached.

7. Rheological behaviour

General concepts

Rheology is the study of the flow and deformation of materials (Barnes, 2000). In "A handbook of elementary rheology" Barnes described, what is flow using an example of water, that is carried carefully in a bucket, and it is moving but not flowing. Let's look at the dough: when the piece of dough lying on the table, carrying its own weight instantly, it starts to flow in a while and ends up like a "floated mass" after long time.

There are two kinds of flows: shear (liquid elements flow over or past each other) and extensional (adjacent elements flow towards or away from each other) (Fig. 7ab). A shear flow can be visualised as the movement of hypothetical layers sliding over each other (Fig. 7c).



Figure 7. Particle motion in shear (a,c) and extentional (b) flows (Barnes 2000).

All flows are resisted by viscosity, *e.g.* the flow of water poured out from a bucket is quicker than the flow of motor oil poured out from the same bucket.

The gradient of the velocity (force making the liquid to flow) in the direction at right angles to the flow is called the shear rate (γ) and the force produced by the flow per unit area is called the shear stress (σ). The shear viscosity (η) is given as the proportion between the shear stress and the shear rate:

$$\sigma = \eta \gamma$$
 (Newton's postulate)

When η is constant, the material shows Newtonian behaviour.

The potential energy and the energy which is dissipated as heat, can be separated into the storage modulus (G') and the loss modulus (G"), respectively. Dynamic oscillation measurements can be performed either at constant strain or stress. This means that when a sample is subjected to a sinusoidal strain ($\gamma = \gamma_0 \sin \omega t$), the material responds with a sinusoidal stress ($\sigma = \sigma_0 \sin \omega t$) which depends on the properties of the material. The strain (γ) is applied with a given angular frequency (ω), and σ_0 with γ_0 , are the shear stress and strain amplitudes, respectively. The phase angle (δ) gives information on the phase shift, the ratio of the viscous to the elastic properties in the sinusoidal deformation:

 $\tan \delta = G$ " / G'

For an elastic solid the resulting stress is in phase with the strain ($\delta = 0$), and for a viscous liquid the stress is 90 ° ahead of the strain. The two moduli are by the relationships:

$$G' = (\sigma_0 / \gamma_0) \cos \delta$$

and
$$G'' = (\sigma_0 / \gamma_0) \sin \delta$$

Mechanical spectra

A mechanical spectrum, *i.e.* the frequency sweep of both moduli (G' and G") in dynamic oscillation can be used to distinguish between the elastic and viscous properties of material within the time. When the viscous properties dominate, G" > G', and G' > G"when the elastic properties govern. From long to short times (low to high frequencies) for a non-cross-linked or with covalent links (transient network) polymer the terminal zone when G' < G" represents liquid properties, the plateau zone with G' > G", rubbery properties, and the transition zone, where the rheological behaviour changes from rubbery to glasslike. The viscoelastic behaviour in the transition zone is relatively similar for all polymers, and is independent of polymer molecular weight and weight distribution (Ferry, 1970). Rheological properties of polymeric glutenins in wheat, with the multiple chain polymers in which the individual peptides or subunits are linked by disulphide bonds, have been shown to give more information about the relative size of the polymeric aggregates and their interactions (Tronsmo *et al.*, 2002). Viscoelasticity of gluten and factors influencing rheological properties of dough

By measuring the rheological properties of dough not much information about the structure of gluten proteins can be obtained, since the rheological properties of gluten are masked by the large amount of starch and water content of dough. Gliadins are responsible for the viscous and extensible properties, while glutenins confer elastic properties and resistance to expansion to the system. A balance between the two protein fractions is important for the rheological behaviour of gluten (Janssen *et al.*, 1996a, b).

The viscoelastic properties of the glutenins have been postulated to govern the good mixing properties of dough and the quality of the final bread (MacRitchie, 1992). However, an appropriate relationship between rheological properties and baking performance is difficult to find. A great number of studies showed, that a lot of factors influencing rheological properties of dough and baking quality. Water content and flour type have a significant effect on storage modulus (G') and phase angle measured by an oscillatory test both in linear viscoelastic region and as a function of stress (Autio *et al.*, 2001). Oscillatory measurements are known to be very sensitive to water content (Dreese *et al.*, 1988; Hibberd, 1970; Navickis *et al.*, 1982).

Also changes in rheological properties of dough based on granule size distribution might be expected because an increase in the proportion of the small B granules provides a much higher surface area for the binding of proteins (including amylases), lipids and water (Rahman *et al.*, 2000). In a study of the effect of granule size on dough extension it was found that small starch granules increase extensibility of the dough, whereas large granules increase resistance to extension (Larsson and Eliasson, 1997). Also starch containing only purified B granules show markedly longer mixing times and higher water absorption compared to reconstituted flour containing only A granules (Rahman *et al.*, 2000).

8. Wheat Proteomics

In mass spectrometry, the sample (e.g. a tryptic digest of a protein) is ionised and mass per charge is analysed. The most commonly used ionisation techniques for polypeptides are electrospray ionisation (ESI) and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation (MALDI). In ESI, polypeptides are ionised amino acid by amino acid, and thereby sequenced according to mass per charge (m/z). In MALDI, whole peptides are charged and their m/z is measured. More elaborate techniques include ion trap mass spectrometry (ionising a complex mixture of proteins, trapping them according to m/z and sending them one by one for further analysis in a tandem coupled mass spectrometer). To decrease the level of complexity, a preseparatory technique such as HPLC is often used when peptide mixtures are studied. Presence of peptide fragments matching known sequences from data bases will identify the protein. Two problems in database matching are that some different amino acids have the same mass per charge ratio, what makes them indistinguishable from one another, and reported sequences in the data bases may contain a substantial amount of erroneously annotated entries, thus making protein with incorrect reference data. Sequencing errors may also make the

databases incorrect. Mass spectrometry is gaining further in popularity due to lowered costs of analysis. It is not limited to protein identification, but in proteomics it has had one of the greatest impacts though it is new accurate possibilities of identification (Kjell, 2004).

New developments in proteomics make possible to identify hundreds of wheat endosperm proteins using mass spectrometry (Van Wijk, 2001). Identification of proteins is based on: 1) separating proteins by 2D-PAGE, HPLC, or other methods; 2) subjecting proteins to protease digestion or fragmentation; 3) measuring the masses of the resulting peptides; 4) matching masses of peptides to masses predicted by known gene and protein sequences.

A complementary approach involves micro sequence analysis of proteins and peptides. Both methods rely on availability of extensive databases of gene and protein sequences from wheat, rice, maize, *Arabidobsis* etc. Approximately 1300 proteins extracted from wheat endosperm at mid-development were resolved by 2D-PAGE (Clarke *et al.*, 2000). Extensive structure/function relationship studies on amino-acid sequences of HMW glutenin subunits provided some information on the primary structures of glutenins using matrix assisted laser desorption/ionisation time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOFMS) (Cozzolino *et al.*, 2001; Foti *et al.*, 2000; Cunsolo *et al.*, 2001, 2003). The reports demonstrated differences in glycosylation and other post-translational modifications of HMW glutenin subunits. Furthermore, the combine use of RP- or SE- HPLC and MALDI-MS techniques can be successfully applied in obtaining rapid mapping information of HMW-gs peptides.

Proteomics techniques provide an opportunity to add greatly to information about patterns of protein accumulation and can provide information about pathways of signal transduction by identifying regulatory modification of proteins, such as phosphorylation (Vener *et al.*, 2001). However, the link of all this information to the exact biochemical mechanisms of the entire (unreduced) gluten polymer and variation during wheat processing is still not clear. Thus, proteomic analysis will be the most useful tool when combined with other functional genomics approaches such as microarray analysis and opens new possibilities for the investigations of gluten protein polymer structures.

Objectives

The overall objective of the present studies was to increase the understanding about the protein quality in wheat, *i.e.* to make it possible to improve the production of wheat with desired quality for different end-uses. Studies of changes in protein polymer composition during grain development and dough processing were used as one track to investigate the protein quality in the wheat material.

More specifically, the objectives were to investigate:

- formation of gluten protein polymers during grain filling, and influences of environmental factors such as temperature and nitrogen.
- formation and break-down of gluten protein polymers in dough system (phases) during dough mixing.
- structure-function and extractability changes in protein polymers.
- structural differences in the gluten network of SDS-extractable and unextractable (extractable only with sonication) polymeric proteins.
- gluten network of wheat flours of different quality during dough mixing using small deformation oscillatory measurements, light and scanning electron microscopy.
- genetical and environmental influences on protein structure and composition.
- possibilities to use proteomics for examination of the complex wheat polymeric protein.

Results and General Discussion (Survey of papers I to V)

Formation of the gluten polymers: from plant to product (flour) (papers I and III)

The gluten polymer formation in wheat differs not only between the cultivars but also due to climatic and environmental alterations (Johansson *et al.*, 1998). In field studies, mean temperatures below 30 °C, have been correlated with %UPP (Johansson *et al.*, 2002; 2003).

High temperature, above 30 °C, was reported to increase the proportion of gliadins to glutenins and decrease the proportion of large polymer in flour from several wheat cultivars grown in controlled environment experiments (Blumenthal *et al.*, 1995; Panozzo and Eagles, 2000). At low temperatures, cultivars containing HMW-gs 2+12 were found to be more stable in quality (Johansson *et al.*, 2000) and polymeric protein composition (Johansson *et al.*, 2003) compared to those containing 5+10. Less variability in storage protein composition in response to high temperatures were found for 5+10 cultivars compared to the cultivars with the HMW-gs 2+12 (Blumenthal *et al.*, 1995).

Concerning N application, an increased N have been found to enhance the total amount of all protein components containing gliadins and glutenins, while timing of N was found influencing the %UPP (Johansson *et al.*, 2004).

Reasons for the variation in amount and size distribution of polymeric protein in mature wheat are not fully understood and can be searched for during or within the protein polymer formation period, *i.e.* during grain maturation.

The general pattern of protein accumulation and built-up was found to be similar in the investigated cultivars and did not depend on temperature and applied N (paper I). This pattern (paper I) was similar to the patterns that have been reported also by other authors (Altenbach *et al.*, 2003; Daniel and Triboi, 2002), with increasing built-up of polymeric protein in the middle of grain-filling period.

Temperature was not found to be the main reason for variation in amount and size distribution of polymeric protein in the mature wheat (paper I). Instead N availability seemed to play a greater role (paper I) for the protein accumulation and build-up during grain filling, resulting in differences in amount and size distribution of polymeric protein in mature wheat (paper I).

A certain combination of temperature and cultivation was found to cause changes in the amount and size distribution of polymeric protein, due to variation in N availability in mature grain (paper I). The reason for the differences in amount and size distribution of polymeric protein at maturity seems to be related to amount of up-taken N (available in the plant for redistribution) before flowering, length of grain filling period, and availability of N during the later half part of grain development (paper I).

The formation of %UPP fraction is closely related with the water loss from the grain (Aussenac and Carceller, 2000). However, the water loss is a continuous process, taking place in a steady rate during the whole grain development time (Salgo and Gergely, 2001), while the formation of the polymeric proteins mainly

happens during the latter half of the grain filling period (paper I) (Panozzo *et al.*, 2001; Daniel and Triboi, 2002).

For plant showing differences in amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins due to availability of N, there was a positive relationship between the N availability and the amount of lately accumulated polymeric (LPP, SPP) and monomeric (LMP) gluten proteins. However, these lately accumulated gluten proteins appeared mainly as an increase in SDS-extractable proteins, *i.e.* not too strongly bound proteins, indicating differences in the disulphide bond formation between these, and earlier formed proteins (paper I). Since, intermolecular disulphide formation in SDS-unextractable glutenins seems to occur when gluten protein synthesis ends and dehydration of kernel starts, differences in disulphide bond formation and extractability of polymeric proteins might be due to either alterations in synthesised proteins or in amounts of protein disulphide isomerase (PDI) (paper I).

Protein disulphide isomerase is known as a catalysator during the formation and reorganization of disulphide bonds in developing wheat grains (Every *et al.*, 2003; Kasarda, 1999; Shewry, 1999).

Differences in number of cystein residues between HMW glutenin subunits, and thereby differences in possible formations of disulphide bonds, is thought to be one explanation for the variation in amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins between wheat cultivars containing specific HMW glutenin subunit compositions (Shewry and Tatham, 1997). As described above, the main environmental effect on the amount and size distribution of polymeric protein is thought to be N availability, leading to alterations in protein synthesis or amounts of protein disulphide isomerase (paper I). Whatever reasons (cultivar or environment) alterations in amount and size distribution of polymeric protein (%UPP) in mature grains leads to differences in bread-making quality (Gupta *et al.*, 1993; Johansson *et al.*, 2003), although the reasons for alterations might lead to different changes in the bread-making quality. The amount and size distribution of polymers in the mature grains, forming the flour, is the basis for the build-up and cross-linking of the protein polymers in the dough during bread baking (paper II).

The %UPP in a flour is positively correlated to gluten strength (Kuktaite *et al.*, 2000), and the size and amount of HMW-gs is related to the protein matrix presented in the dough (Lee *et al.*, 2002). During bread-making the gluten polymer structure and function changes (Bekes *et al.*, 1994). Amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins changes and disulphide bond formation is rearranged (Lindsay *et al.*, 2000b). For three investigated flours of various quality (paper 3), %UPP increased at mixing, compared to in flours. Also %large UMP (large unextractable monomeric protein in total large monomeric proteins) increased at mixing compared to in the flours (paper III). The pattern of the cross-linking was similar independent of flour, although the original differences in %UPP and %large UMP between the flours persisted throughout the mixing treatments (paper III). Also, extractability of the different protein types did not vary between the different flours.

Comparing the gluten polymers within a grain/flour and dough showed strikingly differences (papers I and III). In a grain/flour, %UPP and extractability differ according to maturity, cultivar, and environment and the polymer seems mainly to consist of gluten subunits. In the dough, also gliadins seems to be bound/catched more tightly in the polymer, ionic forces influences the polymer to be more equal between different flours, but differences in amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins available already in flours seems to persist (papers I and III). Thus, although the similarities in the polymers, differences in disulphide bonds and maybe also other bonds present already in the wheat grain was found to be the main reason for differences in bread-making quality (paper III).

Breakdown of gluten polymers (paper III)

Breakdown of gluten polymers happen in nature when the grain is germinating or sprouting. When the grain is germinating, proteases are attacking the protein polymers, breaking them down into small peptides and/or amino acids. The amino acids are then used as building material in the new, germinating plant (Shewry *et al.*, 1995). If sprouting has started before harvest, the break-down of the proteins have already started, leading to bad bread-making quality (Johansson *et al.*, 2002).

Overmixing of dough leads to a breakdown of the gluten polymers (Skerritt et al., 1999a, b). After overmixing of dough the percentages of large UPP, total UPP and large UMP in gluten decreased to lower levels than in the flour (paper III). The reason for the breakdown of polymers in the dough is most likely not related to an attack of proteases, but to a breakdown of disulphide bands and disruption of protein matrix through mechanical forces. Mixing stresses produce reorientation within the gluten polymer molecules (Skerritt et al., 1999a). Polymer molecules respond to the application of stress and cause chain orientation and disulphide bonds breakdown during overmixing (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a). Upon prolonged mixing the viscosity of the SDS-extractable protein decreases (Danno and Hoseney, 1982), indicating that not only the SDS-unextractable proteins becoming more easily extractable (paper III), but also the SDS-extractable proteins becoming smaller (Danno and Hoseney, 1982). Moreover, a significant decrease in large UMP at overmixing (paper III) seems to be related to that the branching gluten polymer structure that "traps" the monomeric proteins, *i.e.* omega-gliadins, through hydrogen bonds (Belton, 1999) and ionic-electrostatic interactions (Hamer and van Vliet, 2000), are "releasing" those proteins when the breakdown of the polymer begins.

Extractability of proteins and impact on quality (papers I, III, V)

The relations of SDS-extractable versus SDS-unextractable proteins influence baking quality (Gupta *et al.*, 1993; Johansson *et al.*, 2003). The SDS-extractability of the polymeric proteins differ depending on cultivar (Johansson *et al.*, 2001) and environment (Johansson *et al.*, 2002, 2003, 2004), where timing of N and N availability are important parameters (paper I, Johansson *et al.*, 2001). The relationship between SDS-extractable and –unextractable proteins changes during

mixing (paper III). Also, changes in glutenin extractability have been observed during dough resting, assuming that repolymerization of glutenin polymer takes place (Hamer and Lichtendonk, 1987). The rate of the increase in protein unextractability was greater for weak flours than for strong ones (Tanaka and Bushuk, 1973; Tsen, 1967).

What is the difference between SDS-extractable and –unextractable polymeric protein? What does actually happen when the proteins are shifting between SDS-extractable and –unextractable polymeric protein?

One can imagine changes in protein conformation, amount of disulphide bonds, types of proteins involved in the polymer, and polymer size. According to Eckert *et al.* (1993), an increase in extractability of the polymer is an effect of conformational rearrangements and not of a reduction in the size of protein polymer. The more extended the structure is (*e.g.* after mixing), the greater will the extractability be and a lower amount of unextractable glutenin polymer will be found (Eckert *et al.*, 1993). In the present work, an attempt to understand the polymeric conformation was carried out (paper V).

In the SDS-extractactable protein, the main part of the albumins and globulins were found, while gliadins and glutenins were found in both the SDSextractable and -unextractable (sonicated) samples (paper V). The proteins extractable with propanol + DTT found in the SDS-extractable protein seemed to be more "gliadin-like" compared to those found in the SDS-unextractable protein (paper V) and thereby these proteins might be cysteine residue connected to the glutenin polymer (Masci et al., 1993, 1999). The largest protein polymers of both the SDS-extractable and –unextractable protein contained, however, similar types of proteins (paper V). Thus, changes in types of proteins involved in the large polymeric proteins are not the main reasons for differences in extractability of polymeric proteins (paper V). Instead, the reason for variation in extractability might be changes in number of disulphide bonds or conformations - causing disulphide bonds being more difficult to disrupt both eventually leading to larger polymers. However, only larger polymers do not seem to be the main reason for differences in extractability of SDS-extractable and -unextractable polymeric protein (paper V).

A higher complexity of the polymer with increased strength, was as well indicated when various solvents were used to extract different protein types in three flours of different quality (paper III). In the weakest flour (biscuit flour), the highest amount of the glutenins was extracted with propanol + DTT, while acetic acid increased the amount of extracted glutenin in the stronger flour (standard flour) (paper III). Furthermore, significantly higher amounts of extracted glutenins were found for strong flour compared to the other flours when SDS + DTT were used for the extraction (paper III). DTT in general breaks the disulfide bonds, while in the strong flour, the structure of the protein polymers needed to be rearranged, using SDS, before DTT was able to reach the disulfide bonds. Thereby, a more complicated conformation of the polymer structure, alternatively a larger protein polymer (as stated by some authors; *e.g.* (Singh and MacRitchie, 2001a)), with probably a higher amount of disulfide bonds is indicated. The results from the

studies in this thesis could not prove whether structure, size or amount of disulfide bonds were the main reasons.

A high extractability of smaller molecules (called SMP) early during grain development was seen in paper I. These smaller molecules were partly consisting of small proteins, likely albumins and other enzymatic proteins important at grain development. Part of the molecules in the SMP peak were, however, very small and could possibly be peptides or even amino acids, transported to the grain for accumulation of proteins during maturity (paper I).

Rheological behaviour and polymer structure (paper IV)

A number of studies have been performed on fundamental gluten rheological behaviour (Khatkar *et al.*, 1995), indicating the importance of intermolecular disulphide bonds in dough/gluten rheological behaviour (Shewry and Tatham, 1997). There is strong evidence that the specific subunit composition plays an important role in determining the rheological properties of dough (Payne, 1987b). In addition, the molecular size and structure of the gluten polymer are related to the polymer rheological properties. Interactions between polymer chain entanglements and branching are seen to be key mechanisms determining the rheological behaviour of gluten polymers (Dobraszczyk and Morgenstern, 2003). Also, the phenomenon of repolymerization of gluten polymer during dough resting confirm the existence of a close link between glutenin molecular distribution and the rheological properties of dough (Bangur *et al.*, 1997). According these remarks, seems that only polymeric proteins above a certain molecular size contribute to dough properties such as dough strength (Aussenac *et al.*, 2001).

Differences of mixing time on rheological properties of dough, *i.e.* the storage modulus G', depends on the type of the flour (paper IV). Since, the G' value represents the solid properties of the sample at small deformations, the increase in storage modulus indicates an increase in the network density of the gluten. The storage modulus G' is higher for the higher in gluten strength (strong) flour compared to the weak flour (biscuit) (paper IV). Thus, the higher G' value signifies the higher gluten network density for the strong flour compare to the biscuit flour at Optimum mixing time (paper IV) and specific interactions in the gluten polymer. However, rheological properties of dough during mixing appear influenced differently from the gluten. The strongest effect of mixing time was found for the durum flour dough, where G' increased linearly from min to overmixing and the frequency dependence of G' (n') of dough decreased (paper IV).

Concerning water content, both storage modulus (G') and loss modulus (G'') are known to decrease as the water content of doughs increase (Autio *et al.*, 2001). However, contrasting observations of the increase in water content of gluten with increased mixing time did not show an evident relation and effect on the storage modulus of gluten (paper IV). The explanation seems to be related to the properties and microstructure of gluten. The fact that rheological properties of dough were uninfluenced and the large starch granules appeared in the gluten after overmixing, seem to indicate more complex gluten network in the strong flour

compare to the weaker flours and probable an incomplete overmixing effect for this flour (paper IV).

Also, the increase in the gluten water content for the standard flour did not influence the G' modulus of the gluten (paper IV). The explanation seems to be related to a relatively high amount of cultivar carrying 1BL/1RS translocation in the standard flour (paper IV), thus the water uptake of the dough is increasing and that causes the dough stickiness. Furthermore, the negative pentosans effect in such flour is also possible. Hence, the flour type affects the rheological properties of dough (Autio *et al.*, 2001). This is related with the genetical cultivar background, for instance, the G' values of both dough and gluten were highest for the durum flour compared to bread wheat at increasing mixing (paper IV).

Protein composition in gluten – influences of genetics and environment (paper II, III and IV, unpublished results and from posters)

Specific variations in gluten protein composition are related to differences in gluten strength between cultivars (Johansson *et al.*, 1995, 1996). Correlation have been established between particular proteins and protein subunits and different bread-making quality parameters (Johansson *et al.*, 1996; Payne *et al.*, 1987a). Also, dough treatment influences the amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins (paper III). Most of the HMW-gs and LWM-gs found in the gluten phase were present in the bottom phase as well (paper II), likely indicating that those proteins appeared in the bottom phase due to the large size during centrifugation. The specific LMW-gs detected only in the gluten phase (Fig. 1b) under all mixing conditions may indicate specificity of these proteins within the polymeric network formation in gluten phase (paper II).

Presence of water-extractable proteins was found both in the liquid and gluten phase after ultracentrifugation of dough (paper II). This seems to indicate, that albumins are trapped, or somewhat included in the gluten network during mixing. However, the type of albumins found in the gluten phase was different from those found in the liquid phase (paper II). Thus, specific types of water-soluble proteins somehow were a part of the network. Water extractable proteins within the liquid phase were found using Western blotting analysis. The used antibodies (derived from J. Hejgaard, Biocentrum DTU, Lyngby, Denmark) were typical albumin type. Water extractable proteins in the gluten phase were instead found to be of gliadin type (antibodies from J. Hejgaard) (Fig. 8).



Figure 8. Water-soluble gliadins found in gluten phase after ultracentrifugation of dough.

The eventual role of water and salt soluble proteins in gluten network formation is not properly known yet.

The amount of polymeric protein in the gluten phase was mostly related to the amount of N applied to the crop, but was also influenced by the cultivar and the cultivation year (Table 1a, b). This indicates a cultivar and environment influence on amount of polymeric protein in the gluten. Cultivar and environment influence amount of polymeric protein in the cultivar (Johansson *et al.*, 2001, 2002). A higher amount of polymeric protein in the cultivar does not necessarily mean a higher amount in the gluten, but the present investigations showed that this was in fact the case (Table 1b).

Table 1. Mean squares from the combined analysis of variance across cultivars, nitrogen application and dough mixing time (treatment). The measured parameters are: (a) the sizes of different phases after ultracentrifugation of dough, (b) different protein parameters from SE-HPLC analyses

Source	Liquid	Gel	Gluten	Starch	Bottom
Cultivar	20.4	2.0	12.2*	31.1	33.9
Nitrogen	1.9	1.1	21.0*	44.1	19.9
Treatment	4.3	14.3***	11.8*	72.1*	315.4***
Error	6.5	1.1	2.6	11.5	21.9

	SDS-extractable					
Cultivar	ar LPP SPP		LMP	SMP		
	-					
Gel $x10^{10}$	38.0*	52.6	13590.0**	2825.0**		
Gluten x10 ¹¹	18.0	185.5***	1762.0***	2.4		
Bottom x10 ¹⁰	12.7*	0.9	117.3	3.5		
Nitrogen						
Gel x10 ¹⁰	4.5	0.2	140.0	4361.0**		
Gluten x10 ¹¹	37.7	211.6***	1476.0***	0.0		
Bottom x10 ¹⁰	3.2	30.0**	272.5	1.4		

	SDS-unextractable					
Cultivar	LPP	SPP	LMP	SMP	LUPP	TUPP
Gel x10 ¹⁰	21.6***	83.2**	223.6**	4.0	0.02**	0.03*
Gluten x10 ¹¹	1974.8	186.6*	441.8	1.1	0.0	0.0
Bottom x10 ¹⁰	120.5***	1660.0***	4.4	20.1	0.1***	0.05***
Nitrogen						
Gel $x10^{10}$	0.5	17.0	413.6**	2.8	0.0	0.0
Gluten x10 ¹¹	286.9	82.0	218.1	0.1	0.0	0.0
Bottom x10 ¹⁰	17.8**	130.0	5.4	46.7	0.0	0.0

b)

a)

Gliadins and glutenin subunits combine to form gluten polymers, which give wheat dough its unique viscoelastic properties. Protein film in undermixed dough generally had a rougher structure than in overmixed dough (paper IV). This is related to increasing dough elasticity with increasing mixing time, resulting a smoother gluten network. According to earlier results, prolonged mixing untangles inter-chain disulphide linkages, modifies chain orientation, ruptures bonds between LMW-gs and HMW-gs and promotes new polymer-polymer interactions. The explanation to the changes in protein composition during mixing seems to be dependent on the genetic composition of the flours (paper IV).

Proteomics and polymer structure (paper V)

The proteome is composed of the whole set of proteins present in a given tissue, cell, or in sub-cellular components of a living organism at a given time. The identification of proteins expressed (gene location and sequence), posttranslational modifications, function in physiological metabolism are the major tasks of the proteomic approach. Gluten proteomic approach could be used for: 1) characterisation of the gene products, 2) study the expression of wheat storage protein genes, 3) study interactions between chromosomes, 4) accumulation of storage proteins in protein bodies, 5) post-translational modifications (a result of genetic and environmental influence), 6) environmental influences on storage proteins (Branlard et al., 2004). Proteomic analysis is an extremely useful analytical tool for the separation, the quantification and identification of proteins from complex protein mixtures. However, difficulties in studying of the entire gluten polymer structure appear (paper V). Proteomics results were generally interesting and comparisons of digested versus digested+reduced samples could contribute to expanding understanding of disulphide bond formation and breakdown pattern within the gluten macropolymer. However, SDS-PAGE and RP-HPLC techniques were simpler to use and more informative on differences in SDS-extractable and -unextractable protein compositions compared to the proteomics (paper V).

Concluding remarks

Accumulation and built-up of the proteins in the developing wheat grain is independent of variation in temperature and nitrogen regimes.

The grain protein concentration is influenced by the temperature through a higher starch accumulation rate at temperatures around 15-20 °C.

Nitrogen and sulphur availability are important factors in determining the amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins, especially during the latter half of grain development.

Variation in temperature did not influence the %large UPP, total UPP and large UMP.

The specific LMW-gs found in gluten phase during dough mixing are involved in gluten macropolymer formation and bread-making quality.

The amount and size distribution of polymeric proteins are genetically and environmentally determined, and form the basis for the build-up (cross-linking) of protein polymers during dough formation.

The omega-gliadins interact with the glutenins during dough processing through non-covalent interactions.

During dough formation the protein polymer have hydrophilic residues orientated on the outside, and therefore, only small differences in protein extractability appear.

The general effects of prolonged mixing of dough (from opt to overmixing) were an increase in water content of gluten, changes in the rheological properties of dough, smoothening of the gluten surface and distribution of starch granules in gluten.

The storage modulus (G', representing the network density) of gluten was uninfluenced by prolonged mixing.

Overmixing resulted in a smaller effect on the strong flour compared to the weaker (biscuit and standard) flours.

The variation in gluten protein network formation during dough mixing is caused by the genetic source of flour, as well as by the protein composition of the polymeric proteins.

Differences in the extractability behaviour of SDS-extractable and – unextractable proteins in various solvents indicated the different roles of those proteins in the gluten macropolymer structure.

The specific ω -gliadins seem to have a tight link with the HMW- and LMW gs and are a part of the gluten macropolymer.

The large polymeric protein (LPP) fraction of the gluten macropolymer has a branched and complex structure with possibly conformation differences compared to the rest of the macropolymer and an increased number of disulphide bonds.

Differences in size of the LPP fraction seems not to be the main reason of variation in extractability between the SDS-extractable and –unextractable protein.

The specific albumins have a certain function by being involved in polymer structure.

The attempts of using proteome technique for investigating the entire gluten macropolymer composition and structure are limiting.

Protein Future Application

Molecular mechanisms involved in wheat grain development are yet poorly understood despite the importance of cereals as a major source of nutrition for human kind (Altenbach *et al.*, 2003). Until now it has been impossible to answer questions such as: what are the differences in gluten network formation between cultivars and the influence of environmental variations? How do the protein polymers change during processing for different cultivars and during different grain treatments? Also, there is still a lack of understanding about posttranslational protein modifications, such as glycosylation, that occur and can have major effects on properties of the gluten proteins.

Genomics and proteomics techniques provide considerable opportunities for understanding these processes. By comparing profiles of gene expression and protein accumulation pattern under different environmental conditions, it should be possible to reveal basic molecular mechanisms that are influenced by environment and affect productivity and quality.

Understanding the molecular basis and behaviour of gluten proteins is an important pre-requisite for breeding in order to improve the quality for traditional uses and to develop new properties for novel uses in both the food and non-food industries, *e.g.* gluten biodegradable plastics. For future gluten protein work, the synthesis of already known information about the gluten proteins and new techniques, *i.e.* proteomics, create new possibilities for the investigations of gluten protein complexity in order to understand the biochemical basis and reactions behind the structure of the gluten polymer. This work in a broader context may have suitable information outside direct study field, *e.g.* not only improving wheat cultivar breeding, bread-making, pasta and baking goods, but also solving the gluten allergy and intolerance problems. Also, knowledge for the expanding field of non-food applications in the development of coatings, adhesives and disposables may be anticipated.

References

- Altenbach, S. B., DuPont, F.M., Kothari, K.M., Chan, R., Johnson, E.L., Lieu, D. 2003. Temperature, water and fertilizer influence the timing of key events during grain development in a USA spring wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science* 37, 9-20.
- Aussenac, T., Carceller, J.-L. 2000. SDS-unextractable glutenin polymer formation in wheat kernels. *In Wheat Gluten*, P. R. Shewry and A. S. Tatham, ed. (R. Soc. Chemistry, Cambridge), 475-479 pp.
- Aussenac, T., Carceller, J.-L., Kleiber, D. 2001. Changes in SDS solubility of gluten polymers during dough mixing and resting. *Cereal Chemistry* 78, 39-45.
- Autio, K., Flander, L., Kinnunen, A., Heinonen, R. 2001. Bread quality relationship with rheological measurements of wheat flour dough. *Cereal Chemistry* 78, 654-657.
- Bangur, R., Batey, I.L., McKenzie, E., MacRitchie, F. 1997. Dependence of extensograph parameters on wheat protein composition measured by SE-HPLC. *Journal of Cereal Science* 25, 237-245.
- Barnes, H. A. 2000. A handbook of elementary rheology (Aberystwyth, Wales, Institute of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics, the University of Wales).

- Bass, E. J. 1988. Wheat flour milling. In Wheat chemistry and technology, Pomerantz, Y., ed. (St. Paul, Minnesota, USA, AACC), 1-68 pp.
- Bekes, F., Gras, P. W., Anderssen, R. S. and Appels, R. 2001. Quality traits of wheat determined by small-scale dough testing methods. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 52, 1325-1338.
- Bekes, F., Gras, P. W., Gupta, R. B., Hickman, D. R. and Tatham, A. S. 1994. Effects of a high M(r) glutenin subunit (1BX20) on the dough mixing properties of wheat-flour. *Journal of Cereal Science* 19, 3-7.
- Belderok, B., Mesdag, J., Donner, D. A. 2000. Bread-making quality of wheat: a century of breeding in Europe. Donner, D. A., ed. (Dordrecht, Boston, London, Kluwer Academic Publishers).
- Belton, P. S. 1999. On the elasticity of wheat gluten. *Journal of Cereal Science* 29, 103-107.
- Belton, P. S., Gil, A. M., Grant, A., Alberti, E., Tatham, A. S. 1998. Proton and carbon NMR measurements of the effects of hydration on the wheat protein omega gliadin. *Spectrochimica Acta A* 54, 955-966.
- Blumenthal, C., Bekes, F., Gras, P.W., Barlow, E.W.R., Wrigley, C.W. 1995. Identification of wheat genotypes tolerant to the effects of heat stress on grain quality. *Cereal Chemistry* 72, 539-544.
- Branlard, G., Dardevet, M. 1985a. Diversity of grain protein and bread wheat quality. I. Correlation between gliadin bands and flour quality characteristics. *Journal of Cereal Science* 3, 329-343.
- Branlard, G., Dardevet, M. 1985b. Diversity of grain protein and bread wheat quality. II. Correlation between high molecular weight subunits of glutenin and flour characteristics. *Journal of Cereal Science* 3, 345-354.
- Branlard, G., Dumur, J., Bancel, E., Merlino, M., Dardevet, M. 2004. Proteomic analysis of wheat storage proteins: a promising approach to understand the genetic and molecular bases of gluten components. Paper presented at: Proc. 8th Gluten Workshop, 8-10 September (Viterbo, Italy)
- Bueche, F. 1962. Physical properties of high polymers, Interscience, New York.
- Buonocore, V., De Biasi, M.-G., Giardina, P., Poerio, E., Silano, V. 1985. Purification and properties of an alfa-amylase tetrametric inhibitor from wheat kernel. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 831, 40-48.
- Campos, D. T., Steffe, J. F., Ng, P.K.W. 1997. Rheological behavior of undeveloped and developed wheat dough. *Cereal Chemistry* 74, 489-494.
- Clarke, B., Hobbs, M., Skylas, D., Appels, R. 2000. Genes active in developing wheat endosperm. *Functional and Integrative Genomics* 1, 44-55.
- Consalvi, V., Chiaraluce, R., Patacchini, C., Lafiandra, D., D'Ovidio, R., Masci, S. 2004. Structural analysis of two heterologously expressed native and mutated low molecular weight glutenin subunits. Paper presented at: 8th Gluten Workshop, 8-10 September, 2003 (Viterbo, Italy).
- Cozzolino, R., Di Giorgi, S., Fisichella, S., Garozzo, D. 2001. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation mass spectrometric peptide mapping of high molecular weight glutenin subunits 1Bx7 and 1Dy10 in Cheyenne cultivar. *Rapid Communications in Mass* Spectrometry 15, 778-787.
- Cunsolo, V., Foti, S., Saletti, R., Ceraulo, L., Di Stefano, V. 2001. Detection and localisation of disulphide bonds in a synthetic peptide reproducing the sequence 1-30 of *Par j* 1.0101 by electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. *Proteomics* 1, 1043-1048.
- Cunsolo, V., Foti, S., Saletti, R., Gilbert, S., Tatham, A. S., Shewry, P. R. 2003. Structural studies of glutenin subunits 1Dy10 and 1Dy12 by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation mass spectrometry and high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 17, 442-454.
- Dachkevitch, T., Autran, J. C. 1989. Prediction of baking quality of bread wheats in breeding programs by size-exclusion high-performance liquid chromatography. *Cereal Chemistry* 66, 448-456.

- Daniel, C., Triboi, E. 2002. Changes in wheat protein aggregation during grain development: effects of temperatures and water stress. *European Journal of Agronomy* 16, 1-12.
- Danno, G., Hoseney, R.C. 1982b. Effects of dough mixing and rheologically active compounds in relative viscosity of wheat proteins. *Cereal Chemistry* 59, 196-198.
- Dewey, D. R. 1984. The genomic system of classification as a guide to intergeneric hybridisation with the perennial *Triticeae*. *In: Gene Manipulation in Plant improvement*, Plenum Publ. Corp., New York.
- Dobraszczyk, B. J., Morgenstern, M. 2003. Rheology and the breadmaking process. *Journal of Cereal Science* 38, 229-245.
- Dreese, P. C., Faubion, J. M., Hoseney, R. C. 1988. Dynamic rheological properties of flour, gluten, and gluten-starch doughs. II Effect of various processing and ingredient changes. *Cereal Chemistry* 65, 354-359.
- Eckert, B., Amend, T., Belitz, H.-D. 1993. The course of the SDS and Zeleny sedimentation tests for gluten quality and related phenomena studied using the light microscope. *Zeitschrift fur Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und -Forschung* 196, 122-125.
- Eliasson, A.-C., Larsson, K. 1993. Cereals in breadmaking: a molecular colloidal approach (New York, Basel, Hong Kong).
- Ewart, J. A. D. 1979. Glutenin structure. *Journal of the Science and Food Agriculture* 30, 482-492.
- Every, D., Griffin, W. B., Wilson, P. E. 2003. Ascorbate oxidase, protein disufide isomerase, ascorbic acid, dehydroascorbic acid and protein levels in developing wheat kernels and their relationship to protein disulphide bond formation. *Cereal Chemistry* 80, 35-39.

FAO statistical data, Sweden.

- http://www.fao.org/ag/AGP/AGPC/doc/field/Wheat/europe/sweden.htm; (accessed 20-Sept-2004).
- Feldman, M. 1976. Wheats. *In Evolution of crop plants*, Simmonds, N. W., ed. (Longman Group Limited, England), 120-128 pp.
- Ferry, J. D. 1970. Viscoelastic properties of polymers (New York, John Wiley and Sons).
- Field, J., Shewry, P. R., Miflin, B. J. 1983. Solubilization and characterization of wheat gluten proteins; correlations between the amount of aggregated proteins and baking quality. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 34, 370-378.
- Finney, K. F., Yamazaki, W. T., Youngs, V. L. and Rubenthaler, G. L. 1987. Quality of hard, soft and durum wheats. *In Wheat and wheat improvement, Agronomy Monograph* 13 (ASA-CSSA-SSSA, Madison), 677-748 pp.
- Foti, S., Maccarrone, G., Saletti, R., Roepstorff, P., Gilbert, S., Tatham, A. S., Shewry, P. R. 2000. Verfication of the cDNA deduced sequence of glutenin subunit 1Dx5 and an *Mr* 58000 repetitive peptide by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation mass spectrometry (MALDI-MS). *Journal of Cereal Science* 31, 173-183.
- Frazier, P. J., Daniels, N.W.R., Russell Eggitt, P.W. 1981. Lipid-protein interactions during dough development. *Journal of Science and Food Agriculture* 32, 877-897.
- Friedli, G. L. 1996 Interaction of deamidated soluble wheat protein (SWP) with other food proteins and metals, Doctoral thesis, University of Surrey, England.
- Garcia-Olmedo, F., Carmona, M.J., Lopez-Fando, J. J., Fernandez, J. A., Castagnaro, A., Molina, A., Hernandez-Lucas, C., Carbonero, P. 2002. Characterization and analysis of thionin genes. *In Plant Gene Research. Genes Involved in Plant Defense*, Boller, T., Molina, A, ed. (New York, Springer), 283-302 pp.
- Grimwade, B., Tatham, A. S., Freedman, R. B., Shewry, P. R., Napier, J. A. 1996. Comparison of the expression patterns of genes coding for wheat gluten proteins and proteins involved in the secretory pathway in developing caryopses of wheat. *Plant Molecular Biology* 30, 1067-1073.
- Gupta, R. B., Batey, I. L., MacRitchie, F. 1992. Relationships between protein composition and functional properties of wheat flours. *Cereal Chemistry* 69, 125-131.
- Gupta, R. B., Khan, K., MacRitchie, F. 1993. Biochemical basis of flour properties in bread wheats. I. Effects of variation in the quantity and size distribution of polymeric protein. *Journal of Cereal Science* 18, 23-41.

- Gupta, R. B., Masci, S., Lafiandra, D., Bariana, H. S., MacRitchie, F. 1996. Accumulation of protein subunits and their polymers in developing grains of hexaploid wheats. *Journal* of Experimental Botany 47, 1377-1385.
- Gupta, R. B., Shepherd, K. W. and MacRitchie, F. 1991. Genetic control and biochemical properties of some high molecular weight albumins in bread wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science* 13, 221-235.
- Gupta, R. B., Singh, N. K., Shepherd, K. W. 1989. The cumulative effect of allelic variation in LMW and HMW glutenin subunits on dough properties in the progeny of two bread wheats. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 77, 57-64.
- Hamer, R., van Vliet, T. 2000. Understanding the structure and properties of gluten: an overview. *In Wheat Gluten*, P. R. Shewry and A. S. Tatham., ed. (Cambridge, UK, Royal Society of Chemistry), 125-131 pp.
- Hamer, R. J., Lichtendonk, W.J. 1987. Structure-function studies on gluten proteins. Reassembly of glutenin proteins after mixing. Paper presented at: 3rd International Workshop Gluten Proteins (Singapore, World Scientific Publishers)
- Herzog, H. 1986. Source and sink during the reproductive period of wheat. Advances in Agronomy and Crop Science S8, 1-104.
- Hibberd, G. E. 1970. Dynamic viscoelastic behaviour of wehat flour doughs, part II: effects of water content in the linear region. *Rheologica Acta* 9, 497-500.
- Hoseney, R. C., Finney, K. F., Shogren, M. D. and Pomeranz, Y. 1971. Functional (breadmaking) and biochemical properties of wheat flour components. VIII. Starch. *Cereal Chemistry* 48, 191-201.
- Janssen, A. M., van Vliet, T., Vereijken, J. M. 1996a. Rheological behaviour of wheat glutens at small and large deformations. Comparison of two glutens differing in bread making potential. *Journal of Cereal Science* 23, 19-31.
- Janssen, A. M., van Vliet, T., Vereijken, J. M. 1996b. Rheological behaviour of wheat glutens at small and large deformations. Effect of gluten composition. *Journal of Cereal Science* 23, 33-42.
- Jensen, H. A. 1991. The nordic countries. In Progress in old world palaeoethnobotany, Van Zeist, W., Wasylikowa, K. and Behre, K.-E., ed. (Rotterdam, Brookfield, A A Balkema), 335-350 pp.
- Johansson, E. 1996. Quality evaluation of D zone omega gliadins in wheat. *Plant Breeding* 115, 57-62.
- Johansson, E., and Svensson, G. 1998. Variation in bread-making quality: effects of weather parameters on protein concentration and quality in some Swedish wheat cultivars grown during the period 1975-1996. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 78, 109-118.
- Johansson, E., Henriksson, P., Svensson, G., Heneen, W. K. 1993. Detection, chromosomal location and evaluation of the functional value of a novel high Mr glutenin subunit found in Swedish wheats. *Journal of Cereal Science* 17, 237-245.
- Johansson, E., Kuktaite, R., Prieto-Linde, M. -L., Koppel, R., Ruzgas, V., Leistrumaite, A., Strazdina, V. and Jönsson, J. Ö. 2004. Influences of specific wheat protein compositions on amount and size distribution of protein polymers (submitted).
- Johansson, E., Margiotta, B., Svensson, G., Heneen, W. K. 1995. Quality evaluation of the HMW subunit 21*. Paper presented at: Wheat Kernel Proteins (Viterbo, Italy,).
- Johansson, E., Nilsson, M. L., Mazhar, H., Skerrit, J., MacRitchie, F. & Svensson, G. 2002. Seasonal effects on storage proteins and gluten strength in four Swedish wheat cultivars. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 82, 1305-1311.
- Johansson, E., Prieto-Linde, M. L. and Jönsson, J. Ö. 2001. Effects of wheat cultivar and nitrogen application on storage protein composition and breadmaking quality. *Cereal Chemistry* 78, 19-25.
- Johansson, E., Prieto-Linde, M. L., Svensson, G. and Jönsson, J. Ö. 2003. Influences of cultivar, cultivation year and fertilizer rate on amount of protein groups and amount and size distribution of mono- and polymeric proteins in wheat. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 140, 275-284.

Johansson, E., Svensson, G., Tsegaye, S. 2000. Genotype and environment effects on bread-making quality od Swedish-grown wheat cultivars containing high-molecularweight glutenin subunits 2 + 12 or 5 + 10. Acta Agricultura Scandinavica 49, 225-233. Jorbruksverket statistical data about Swedish Agriculture Production.

http://www.sjv.se/net/SJV/Home/Facts+about+Swedish+Agriculture/Production; (accessed 15-October-2004).

Jorbruksverket, JO 10 SM 0401,

- http://www.jordbruksverket.se/download/SJV/%c4mnesomr%e5den/Statistik%2C+fakta/Ve getabilieproduktion/JO16/JO16SM0401/JO16SM0401_diagram.htm; (accessed 19-October-2004)
- Kasarda, D. D. 1999. Glutenin polymers: the in vitro to in vivo transition. *Cereal Foods World* 44, 566-571.
- Kasarda, D. D., Adalsteins, A.E., Laird, N.F. 1987. g- Gliadins with a-type structure coded on chromosome 6B of the wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) cultivar 'Chinese Spring'. Paper presented at: 3rd Workshop on Gluten Proteins.
- Kasarda, D. D., Autran, J. C., Lew, E. J. L., Nimmo, C. C., Shewry, P. R. 1983. N-terminal amino acid sequences of w-gliadins and w-secalins: Implications for the evolution of prolamin genes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 747, 138-150.
- Kasarda, D. D., Bernardin, J.E., Nimmo, C.C. 1976. Advances in cereal science and technology, Vol 1 (St. Paul, Minnesota, American Association of Cereal Chemists).
- Kauzmann, W. J., Eyring, H. 1940. The viscous flow of large molecules. Journal of American Chemical Society 62, 3113-3125.
- Kettlewell, P. S., Stephenson, D.B., Atkinson, M.D., Hollins, P.D. 2003. Summer rainfall ans wheat grain quality: relationships with the North Atlantic Oscillation. *Weather* 58, 1-9.
- Khan, K., Bushuk, W. 1979. Studies of glutenin. XII. Comparison of sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of unreduced and reduced glutenin fron various isolation and purification procedures. *Cereal Chemistry* 56, 63-68.
- Khatkar, B. S., Bell, A. E., Schofield, J. D. 1995. The dynamic rheological properties of glutens and gluten subfractions from wheats of good and poor bread-making quality. *Journal of Cereal Science* 22, 29-44.
- Khatkar, B. S., Fido, R. J., Tatham, A. S. and Schofield, J. D. 2002. Functional properties of wheat gliadins. I. Effects on mixing characteristics and bread making quality. *Journal* of Cereal Science 35, 299-306.
- Kjell, J. 2004 Blue native polyacrylamide gel alectrophoresis a fynctional approach to plant plasma membrane proteome studies, Doctoral thesis, Lund University.
- Kreil, G. 1981. Transfer of proteins across membranes. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 50, 317-348.
- Kuktaite, R., Johansson, E. and Juodeikiene, G. 2000. Composition and concentration of proteins in Lithuanian wheat cultivars: relationships with bread-making quality. *Cereal Research Communications* 28, 195-202.
- Kuktaite, R., Larsson, H., Marttila, S., Brismar, K., Prieto-Linde, M., Johansson, E. 2004. Gluten macropolymer in wheat flour doughs: structure and function for wheat quality. Paper presented at: 8th Gluten Workshop, 8-10 September, 2003 (Viterbo, Italy).
- Larroque, O. R., Gianibelli, M.C., Batey, I.L., MacRitchie, F. 1996. Identification of elution subfractions from the first peak in SE-HPLC chromatograms of wheat storage protein. Paper presented at: 6th International Gluten Workshop, Cereal Chemistry division, Royal Australian Chemical Institute (North Melbourne, Australia).
- Larsson, H., Eliasson, A. C. 1997. Influence of the starch granule surface on the rheological behaviour of wheat flour dough. *Journal of Texture Studies* 28, 487-501.
- Lee, L., Ng, P. K. W. and Steffe, J. F. 2002. Biochemical studies of proteins in nondeveloped, partially developed, and developed doughs. *Cereal Chemistry* 79, 654-661.
- Lelievre, J., Lorenz, K., Meredith, P. and Barush, D. W. 1987. Effects of starch particle size and protein concentration on breadmaking performance. *Starch/Stärke* 39, 347-352.
- Létang, C., Piau, M. and Verdier, C. 1999. Characterization of wheat flour-water doughs. Part I: rheometry and microstructure. *Journal of Food Engineering* 41, 121-132.

- Lew, E. J. L., Kuzmicky, D. D., Kasarda, D. D. 1992. Characterization of low molecular weight glutenin subunits by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography, sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel elctrophoresis, and N-terminal amino acid sequencing. *Cereal Chemistry* 69, 508-515.
- Levanony, H., Rubin, R., Altschuler, Y., Galili, G. 1992. Evidence for a novel route of wheat storage proteins to vacuoles. *Journal of Cell Biology* 119, 1117-1128.
- Lindsay, M. P., and Skerritt, J. H. 2000a. Immunocytochemical localisation of gluten proteins uncovers structural organization of glutenin macropolymer. *Cereal Chemistry* 77, 360-369.
- Lindsay, M. P., Skerritt, J. H. 1999. The glutenin macropolymer of wheat flour doughs: structure-fuction perspectives. *Trends in Food Science and Technology* 10, 247-253.
- Lindsay, M. P., Tamas, L., Appels, R., and Skerritt, J. H. 2000b. Direct evidence that the number and location of cysteine residues affect glutenin polymer structure. *Journal of Cereal Science* 31, 321-333.

Löve, A. 1984. Conspectus of the Triticeae. Feddes Repertorium 95, 425-521.

- MacRitchie, F. 1984. Baking quality of wheat flours. *Advances in Food Nutrition Research* 29, 201-277.
- MacRitchie, F. 1992. Physicochemical properties of wheat proteins in relation to functionality. *Advances in Food Nutrition Research* 36, 1-87.
- MacRitchie, F. 1998. Reversibility of protein adsorbtion. *In Proteins at liquid interfaces*, D. Moebius and R. Miller, ed. (Amsterdam, the Netherlands, Elsevier Science B.V.), 149-177 pp.
- MacRitchie, F. 1999. Wheat proteins: characterization and role in flour functionality. *Cereal Foods World* 44, 188-193.
- MacRitchie, F., duCros, D.L., Wrigley, C.W. 1990. Flour polypeptides related to wheat quality. *In Advances in Cereal Science and technology*, Y. Pomeranz, ed. (St. Paul., USA, American Association of Cereal Chemists), 79-145 pp.
- MacRitchie, F., Singh, H. 2004. Polymer concepts applied to gluten behavior in dough. Paper presented at: 8th Gluten Workshop, 8-10 September, 2003 (Viterbo, Italy).
- Margiotta, B., Urbano, M., Colaprico, G., Johansson, E., Buonocore, F., D'Ovidio, R., Lafiandra, D. 1996. Detection of Y-type subunit at the *GluA1* Locus in some Swedish bread wheat lines. *Journal of Cereal Science* 23, 203-211.
- Masci, S., Egorov, T. A., Ronchi, C., Kuzmicky, D.D., Kasarda, D.D., Lafiandra, D. 1999. Evidence for the presence of only one cysteine residue in the D-type low molecular weight subunits of wheat glutenin. *Journal of Cereal Science* 29, 17-25.
- Masci, S., Lafiandra, D., Poceddu, E., Lew, E.J.L., Tao, H.P., Kasarda, D.D. 1993. Dglutenin subunits: N-terminal sequences and evidence for the presence of cysteine. *Cereal Chemistry* 70, 581-585.
- Masci, S., Lew, E.J.L., Lafiandra, D., Porceddu, E., Kasarda, D.D. 1995. Characterization of low molecular weight subunits in durum wheat by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography and N-terminal sequencing. *Cereal Chemistry* 72, 100-104.
- Mesdag, J. 1985. Developments in breeding winter wheat for bread-baking quality in some north-western European countries. *Netherland Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 33, 215-234.
- Morris, C. F. 2002. Puroindolines: the molecular genetic basis of wheat grain hardness. *Plant Molecular Biology* 48, 633-647.
- Morrison, W. R. 1988. Lipids. *In Wheat: chemistry and technology*, Pomeranz, Y., ed. (St. Paul., USA, American Association of Cereal Chemists), 373-439 pp.
- Müller, S., Vensel, W. H., Kasarda, D. D., Köhler, P., and Wieser, H. 1998. Disulphide bonds of adjacent cysteine residues in low molecular weight subunits of wheat glutenin. *Journal of Cereal Science* 27, 109-116.
- Müller, S., Wieser, H. 1995. Disulphide bonds of alfa-type gliadins. *Journal of Cereal Science* 22, 21-27.
- Müller, S., Wieser, H. 1997. The location of disulphide bonds in monomeric gama-gliadins. *Journal of Cereal Science* 26, 169-176.

- Navickis, L. L., Landerson, R. A., Bagley, E. B., Jasberg, B. K. 1982. Viscoelastic properties of wheat flour doughs: variation of dynamic moduli with water and protein content. *Journal of Texture Studies* 13, 249-264.
- Nelson, D. L., Cox, M. M. 2003. Amino acids, peptides and proteins. In Principles of biochemistry (New York, Worth publishers), 115-153 pp.
- Okita, T. W., Cheesbrough, V., Reeves, C. D. 1985. Evolution and heterogeneity of the a-/β-type and gama-type gliadin DNA sequences. *Journal Biological Chemistry* 260, 8203-8213.
- Osborne, T. B. 1907. The proteins of the wheat kernel, Carnegie Institution of Washington, Publication no. 84., Judd & Detweiler, INC.
- Panozzo, J. F., Eagles, H.A. 2000. Cultivar and environment effects on quality characters in wheat. II. Protein. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 51, 629-636.
- Panozzo, J. F., Eagles, H.A., Wootton, M. 2001. Changes in protein composition during grain development in wheat. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 52, 485-493.
- Parker, M. L. 1980. Protein body inclusions in developing wheat endosperm. Annual Review of Botany 46, 29-36.
- Payne, P. I. 1986. Endosperm proteins. In Plant Gene Research: a Genetic Approach to Plant Biochemistry, Blenstein, A. D., King, P. J., ed. (New York, Spinger), 207-301 pp.
- Payne, P. I. 1987b. Genetics of wheat storage proteins and the effect of allelic variation on bread-making quality. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology* 38, 141-153.
- Payne, P. I., Corfield, K. G. 1979. Subunit composition of wheat glutenin proteins, isolated by gel filtration in a dissociating medium. *Planta*, 83-88.
- Payne, P. I., Law, C. N., Mudd, E. E. 1980. Control of homoelogous group 1 chromosomes of the high-molecular-weight subunits of glutenin, a major protein of wheat endosperm. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 58, 113-120.
- Payne, P. I., Nightingale, M. A., Krattiger, A. F. and Holt, L. M. 1987a. The relationship between HMW glutenin subunit composition and the bread-making quality in Britishgrown wheat varieties. *Journal of Food Science and Agriculture* 40, 51-65.
- Pomeranz, Y. 1988. Composition and functionality of wheat flour components. *In: Wheat: chemistry and technology*, (St. Paul, USA, American Association of Cereal Chemists), 219-370 pp.
- Rahman, s., Li, Z., Batey, I., Cochrane, M. P., Appels, R., Morell, M. 2000. Genetic alteration of starch functionality in wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science* 31, 91-110.
- Randall, P. J., Moss, H.J. 1990. Some effects oftemperature regime during grain filling on wheat quality. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* 41, 603-617.
- Roden, L. T., Miflin, B. J., Freedman, R. B. 1982. Protein-disulphide isomerase is located in the endoplasmic reticulum of developing wheat endosperm. *FEBS Lett* 138, 121-124.
- Salgo, A., Gergely, S. 2001. Detection of wheat maturation process by NIR. Paper presented at: 6th Int. wheat Conference, 5-9 June (Budapest, Hungary).
- Sapirstein, H. D., Fu, B. X. 1998. Intercultivar variation in the quantity of monomeric proteins, soluble and insoluble glutenin, and residue protein in wheat flour and relationships to breadmaking quality. *Cereal Chemistry* 75, 500-507.
- Scheets, K., Hedgcoth, C. 1988. Nucleotide sequence of a gama gliadin gene: comparisons with other gama gliadin sequences show the structure of gama gliadin genes and the general primary structure of gama gliadins. *Plant Science* 57, 141-150.
- Schofield, J. D. a. B., M. R. 1983. Wheat proteins and their technological significance. In Developments in food proteins., Hudson, B. J. F., ed. (London, Applied Science Publishers), 1-65 pp.
- Shewry, P. R. 1999. The synthesis, processing, and deposition of gluten proteins in the developing wheat grain. *Cereal Foods World* 44, 587-589.
- Shewry, P. R., and Tatham, A. S. 1997. Disulphide bonds in wheat gluten proteins. *Journal* of Cereal Science 25, 207-227.
- Shewry, P. R., Halford, N. G., Belton, P. S. and A. S. Tatham 2002. The structure and properties of gluten: an elastic protein from wheat grain. *The Royal Society* 357, 133-142.
- Shewry, P. R., Halford, N. G., Tatham, A. S. 1989. The high molecular weight subunits of wheat, barley and rye: genetics, molecular biology, chemistry and role in wheat structure and functionality. *Oxford Surveys Plant Molec. Cell Biology*. 6, 163.

- Shewry, P. R., Halford, N. G., Tatham, A. S. 1992. High-molecular-weight subunits of wheat glutenin. *Journal of Cereal Science* 15, 105-120.
- Shewry, P. R., Lafiandra, D., Salsedo, G., Aragoncillo, C., Garcia-Omedo, F., Lew, E.J.L., Dietler, M. D., Kasarda, D. D. 1984. N-terminal amino acid sequences of chloroform/methanol-soluble proteins and albumins from endosperms of wheat, barley and related species. *Federation of European Biological Societies Letters* 175.
- Shewry, P. R., Napier, J.A., Tatham, A. S. 1995. Seed storage proteins: structures and biosynthesis. *The Plant Cell* 7, 945-956.
- Shewry, P. R., Tatham, A. S. 1990. The prolamin storage proteins of cereal seeds: structure and evolution. *Journal of Biochemistry*, 1-12.
- Shewry, P. R., Tatham, A. S. 2000. Wheat gluten. Paper presented at: 7th International Workshop Gluten (University of Bristol).
- Shewry, P. R., Tatham, A.S., Forde. J., Kreis, M., Miflin, B.J. 1986. The classification and nomenclature of wheat gluten proteins: a reassessment. *Journal of Cereal Science* 4, 97-106.
- Shimoni, Y., Zhu, X.-Z., Levanony, H., Segal, G., Galili, G. 1995. Purification, characterization and intracellular localization of glycosylated protein disulphide isomerase from wheat grains. *Plant Physiology* 108, 327-335.
- Shy, G., Ehler, L., Herman, E., Galili, G. 2001. Expression patterns of genes encoding endomembrane proteins support a reduced function of the Golgi in wheat endosperm during the onset of storage protein deposition. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 52, 2387-2388.
- Singh, H., and MacRitchie, F. 2001a. Application of polymer science to properties of gluten. *Journal of Cereal Science* 33, 231-243.
- Skerritt, J. H., Hac, L. and Bekes, F. 1999a. Depolymerization of the glutenin macroplymer during dough mixing: I. Changes in levels, molecular weight distribution, and overall composition. *Cereal Chemistry* 76, 395-401.
- Skerritt, J. H., Hac, L., Lindsay, M. P. and Bekes, F. 1999b. Depolymerization of the glutenin macropolymer during mixing : II. Differences in retention of specific glutenin subunits. *Cereal Chemistry* 76, 402-409.
- Soulaka, A. B., Morrison, W. R. 1985. The amylose and lipid contents, dimensions, and gelatinization characteristics of some wheat starches and their A- and B- granule fraction. *Journal of Science and Food Agriculture* 36, 709-718.
- Stebbins, G. L. 1956. Taxonomy and the evolution of genera, with special reference to the family *Graminea*. *Evolution* 10, 235-245.
- Tanaka, K., Bushuk, W. 1973. Changes in flour proteins during dough-mixing. I. Solubility results. *Cereal Chemistry* 50, 590-596.
- Tatham, A. S., Shewry, P. R., Belton, P.S. 1990. Structural studies of cereal prolamines, including wheat gluten. *In Advances in Cereal Science and Technology*, Y., P., ed. (USA, American Association of Cereal Chemists).
- Tilley, K. A., Benjamin, R. E., Bagorogoza, K. E., Okot-Kotber, B. M., Prakash, O. and Kwen, H. 2001. Tyrosine cross-links: molecular basis of gluten structure and function. *Journal of Agriculture Food Chemistry* 49, 2627-2632.
- Tronsmo, K. M., Fergestad, E.M., Longva, A., Schofield, J.D., Magnus, E. M. 2002. A study of how size distribution of gluten proteins, surface properties of gluten and dough mixing properties relate to baking properties of wheat flours. *Journal of Cereal Science* 35, 201-214.
- Tsen, C. C. 1967. Changes in flour proteins during dough mixing. *Cereal Chemistry* 44, 308-317.
- Uthayakumaran, S., Gras, P. W., Stoddard, F. L. and Bekes, F. 1999. Effect of varying protein content and glutenin-to-gliadin ratio on the functional properties of wheat dough. *Cereal Chemistry* 76, 389-394.
- Wall, J. S. 1979. The role of wheat proteins in determining baking quality. *In Recent advances in the biochemistry of cereals*, D. L. Laidman and Wyn Jones. R. G., ed. (London, New York, Academy), 275-311 pp.
- Van Wijk, K. J. 2001. Challenges and prospects of plant proteomics. *Plant Physiology* 126, 501-508.

- Weegels, P. L., Hamer, R. J. and Schofield, J. D. 1997. Depolymerisation and repolymerisation of wheat glutenin during dough processing. II Changes in composition. *Journal of Cereal Science* 25, 155-163.
- Weegels, P. L., van de Pijpekamp, A. M., Graveland, A., Hamer, R. J. and Schofield, J. D. 1996. Depolymerisation and re-polymerisation of wheat glutenin during dough processing. I. Relationships between glutenin macropolymer content and quality parameters. *Journal of Cereal Science* 23, 103-111.
- Vener, A. V., Harms, A., Sussman, M. R., Vierstra, R. D. 2001. Mass spectrometric resolution of reversible protein phosphorylation in photosynthetic membranes of *Arabidopsis thaliana. Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 6959-6966.
- Veraverbeke, W. S., Delcour, J. A. 2002. Wheat protein composition and properties of wheat glutenin in relation to breadmaking functionality. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 42, 179-208.
- Woychik, J. H., Boundy, J. A., Dimler, R. J. 1961. Starch gel electrophoresis of wheat gluten proteins with concentrated urea. *Archieval Biochemistry and Biophysics* 94, 477-482.
- Wrigley, C. W. 1996. Giant proteins with flour power. Nature 381, 738-739.
- Zohary, D., Hopf, M. 1993. Domestication of plants in the old world, Oxford Uiversity Press).
- Østergaard, H., Rasmussen, S.K., Roberst, T. H., Hejgaard, J. 2000. Inhibitory serpins from wheat grain with reactive centers resembling glutamine-rich repeats of prolamin storage proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275, 33272-33279.

Acknowledgements

- The story that have been started during dark and windy winter in Sweden in 2000 getting to the end....The PhD work is done and I would like to express my deeply sincere THANKS to everyone who have contributed to the completion of this thesis.
- First of all, when I still was a master student at the Chemical Engineering Department, KTU in Lithuania by chance I happened to be a super lucky to get in contact with my future supervisor *Eva Johansson*. The surprising thing was that the fax regarding the suggestion to collaborate has been responded in a couple of days....from the busy professor and with the positive answer!!! I say a big THANK you, *Eva*, and also for the later times and my visits to Sweden and for offering me the opportunity to make PhD, for supporting my workalso for my first Swedish midsummer celebration with your family and nice dinners..... I would like to thank you for many things, but I'm afraid that acknowledgement part will exceed the size of entire thesis. However, I can not skip of being thankful for the knowledge and professional experience about the gluten proteins, fruitful discussions, for unbelievably quick comments on the articles, co-authorship and always having time for me. Thank you are and especially for the stimulating support (what I really needed!!) and nice conversations almost until mornings during the latest Cereal &Bread congress in Harrogate, UK!
- I also would like to thank my co-supervisor *Salla Marttila* for introducing me into "microscopy world", help with Photoshop, for being patient and seeing a positive angle when the things got close to frustration with one of the manuscripts...
- Thanks to *Helena Larsson*, my second co-supervisor, for trying to explain what kind of subject, rheology is, for knowledge, for long meetings and fruitful discussions (although that some of them were never ending), for a nice company and dinner during the gluten workshop in Viterbo and encouraging words.
- Thank you, Professor *Gunnar Svensson*, for your professional knowledge and useful discussions regarding wheat breeding, for being optimistic and supportive.
- Next I wish to thank to Professor *Arnulf Merker* for introducing into completely new for me area of wheat genetics, for all kind of support, wheat group meetings and the exclusive humour during plant breeding course in Latvia.
- Thanks to *Roland von Bothmer* for the extensive knowledge in plant breeding, particular humour and "relaxing" atmosphere in front of the sickle during the examination.
- Thank you, *Marisa*, for assistance with electrophoresis, HPLC and all the lab work, always finding time for me, for your never ending energy and care when I arrived to Sweden. I appreciated dinners with your family and Spanish food, as well as flamenco and tango evenings.
- Want especially to thank *Helén* for always helping to find the things in the lab, for never ending patience, optimism, charm and laugh!!! Also, for nice dinners and ever lasting care and not only. I will never forget a great time in the lab!
- This work was supported by SLU, Formas, Royal Physiografical Society and grants from different foundations.

I also want to thank everyone else at the Plant Breeding department in Svalöv and Crop Science Department in Alnarp who has helped me on the way towards this thesis:

- "Svalöv people" Britt Green, Sussane Hjerdin, Cecilia Åkesson, Louis Lehmann, Erland Liljeroth, Bengt Nilén for all kind of help. Kerstin Brismar, for skilful microscopy work and help with the photographs. Waheeb, for being always kind. Peter Oscarsson, for nice conversations. Oscar Diaz for extra job in SW.
- *Ann-Sofie* and her family for letting me to have a second home when I lived in Svalöv. For your care, all the dinners and trips, summer house, friends (Gabriele and Göran), bathing in a nearly frozen lake after bastu and much more. Thanks.

Patrik Stolt for all the encouraging and useful advices, extra job in ScanBi and all the help.

Computer guys, Göran and Lars H. for helping me to "fight" with the computer problems.

- All the friends, "past or present" colleagues: *Fredrik Ottoson, Claus Holten* (for always having a smile and..."complains"), *PeO Gumesson, Lotta Holmqvist, Pernilla, Boel* for a nice atmosphere at the department. PhD students, *Sara B., Lars M., Linus Masumbuko* (mtoto poa), *Shu-Chin, Siju, Andrea* for a friendly environment.
- Nèlia, for the hospitality and a nice time in Portugal. Zsolt, for the guitar evenings, dinners and"well, I guess it would be nice....."
- My "inconstant" office-mates and friends: Beatrice, Svetlana, Tatjana. Thanks for the cheerful atmosphere. Tatjana, for optimism. Beatrice, sorry for the constant dust on your computer....and for "article printing addiction". Svetlana, for cheering company during the long working evenings, care and cakes.

Miryan (the bad woman), Takuma-san, Max I, I miss your company and jokes.

- I was fortunate to meet those people, who became my friends: *Dainius Plepys*, thanks for all the good time in Lund, parties and spontaneously-crazy trips. *Ruta*, for always cheering mood, friendship and creativity. Thank you, *Audrius*, for the help with scanning of the article II, nice company and conversations during unforgettable cycling-trips in Skåne (thank you, Olia, too). Vaida, Inga and her family, Dalius, Juozas, Sandra and the others who "helped" to keep my Lithuanian alive. I appreciated the nice time with you.
- Thanks to my friends who are far, for the support and friendship: Giedre and Gabija, Jurate and her family, Jurgelis ir Mindaugas, Skaidre, Dainiavas, Tomas, Vilmute, Ingrida, Minde and my cousin Kristina.
- Finally, I want to thank to my best friends: without them I would have not been able to complete this thesis. Without your friendship, encouragement, care and support the life would have been colourless. Exceptional thanks to *Stefan*, for being a person you are. *Annika Sörensen*, for always "på toppen" and for "Annika is the best"....office mate or? *Monica and Tintin*, for all conversations, the crazy laughs, "guitar solo's" on the flour, vanilla souse, all the care and much more. I will never forget the good lunch's time and cheering things "that lightened up my days". *Agnese*, for all the crazy time and fun that we had, for being the most supportive and sincere friend.
- I would like to Thank my mom *Anelė*, who always suggested to do as it is better for me, gave more for me than left for herself. Thanks for all your endless love and confidence in me.
- And last but not the least, my own family, my boyfriend *Marco*, for being near, for all the support, encouragement, cheering songs during my darkest time of the thesis writing, hot milk with honey, Love and much more... where are no words to describe......